ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court violated Mr. Norman' s right to represent herself, in

violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments. 

2. The trial court violated Mr. Norman' s right to " appear and defend in

person," in violation of Wash. Const. art. I, § 22. 

3. The trial court erred by telling Mr. Norman he could not represent
himself unless he demonstrated that he understood " the law and the

Rules f Evidence." 

ISSUE 1: Absent a proper colloquy, a request to proceed pro
se is presumed knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Did the
trial court apply the wrong legal standard in refusing to allow
Mr. Norman to represent himself, based on his ignorance of the

law and the evidence rules? 

4. The trial court violated Mr. Norman' s Sixth and Fourteenth

Amendment right to counsel. 

5. The trial court erred by refusing to inquire into the conflict between
Mr. Norman and his attorney. 

ISSUE 2: An indigent person accused of a crime has a

constitutional right to the appointment of counsel. Did the

court' s refusal to appoint new counsel and failure to adequately
inquire into the breakdown of the attorney-client relationship
violate Mr. Norman' s Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right

to counsel? 

6. Mr. Norman' s separate convictions for forgery and identity theft
infringed his Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment prohibition against

double jeopardy. 

ISSUE 3: Multiple convictions violate double jeopardy if
based on the " same evidence." Did the trial court violate

double jeopardy by entering judgment and imposing sentence
for both forgery and identity theft, where both convictions
rested on the same evidence? 



7. The court' s instructions violated Mr. Norman' s Wash. Const. art. I, § 

21 right to a unanimous verdict on the identity theft charge. 

8. The court erred by failing to instruct the jury that it had to
unanimously agree as to the means by which Mr. Norman had
committed identity theft. 

9. The court' s error requires reversal because the state did not present

substantial evidence supporting all four alternative means of
committing identity theft. 

ISSUE 4: The right to a unanimous verdict includes the right

to jury unanimity regarding the means by which a crime was
committed. Did the court' s failure to require unanimity as to
means violate Mr. Norman' s right to a unanimous verdict? 

ISSUE 5: Absent a special verdict or instructions requiring
unanimity as to means, a conviction must be reversed unless
the state presents substantial evidence as to each alternative

submitted to the jury. Does the state' s failure to prove a
transfer" of financial information require reversal of Mr. 

Norman' s identity theft conviction? 

10. The identity theft statute is unconstitutionally overbroad. 

11. Mr. Norman was convicted through operation of a statute that is

unconstitutionally overbroad. 

ISSUE 6: A criminal statute is unconstitutionally overbroad if
it purports to criminalize private thoughts. Does the identity
theft statute violate the First Amendment by criminalizing mere
possession of knowledge with intent to commit any crime`? 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

I. THE COURT ENTERED TWO FELONY CONVICTIONS BASED ON

BOBBY NORMAN' S PRESENTATION OF A SINGLE S150 CHECK. 

A. The state alleged that Mr. Norman presented a single check, altered

to show himself as payee. 

According to the state' s witnesses, Bobby Norman approached a

teller at a Timberland bank branch and presented a check along with his

identification card. RP 100, 104, 111; Ex. 3. The check was drawn on the

account of Linda Loeck and showed Mr. Norman as payee. RP 100, 104, 

111; Ex. 3. The teller thought that the payee line appeared to have been

written over and asked if he had written his name on the check. RP 101. 

Mr. Norman denied it. RP 101. 

The teller said she would have to call Loeck, and Mr. Norman told

her to go ahead. RP 101- 102, 144. The teller called Loeck, who denied

writing the check to Mr. Norman. RP 51- 52, 104- 05. Loeck said she had

made out the check to " Capital One" and put it in the mail. RP 51- 53, 

104- 105. 

At trial, Mr. Norman testified that he received the check from a

woman named " Drew" in exchange for a DVD player. RP 132- 133. He



stated that he went to the bank immediately after receiving the check and

did not look at it closely before presenting it. RP 131- 132. 

B. After a jury trial, the court entered two felony convictions, 
resulting in a five-year sentence. 

The state charged Mr. Norman with both forgery and second

degree identity theft. CP 1- 2. Second degree identity theft and forgery are

both class C felonies. RCW 9. 35. 020( 3); RCW 9A.60. 020. 

The court instructed the jury that, to convict Mr. Norman of

identity theft, it had to find that the state had proved beyond a reasonable

doubt that Mr. Norman had, among other things, " knowingly obtained, 

possessed, transferred, or used a means of identification or financial

information of another person." CP 26. The court instructed the jury that

m] eans of identification" included

CP 23. 

a current or former name of the person, telephone number, 

an electronic address, and identifier of the individual or a

member of his or her family, including the ancestor of the
person; information relating to a change in [ any of these
pieces of information]; ... and other information that could

be used to identify the person." 

The prosecutor argued from this instruction in closing that Mr. 

Norman' s use of Loeck' s name alone sufficed to satisfy the relevant

element of identity theft. Specifically, after showing the check to the jury, 

the prosecutor argued as follows: 

F



The victim' s name, Linda Loeck, is right there. So he

obtained, used, possessed or transferred a means of

identification. Her name. That' s all that is necessary to use
the means of identification of another person. 

RP 162. The prosecutor also relied on the appearance of the bank' s

routing number on the check to argue that Mr. Norman obtained, 

possessed, or transferred another person' s means of identification or

financial information. RP 162. 

The jury returned guilty verdicts on both counts. CP 37- 38; RP

189- 93. The court subsequently entered convictions for both forgery and

second degree identity theft. CP 43- 51. 

At sentencing, the state recommended sentences at the top of the

standard range: 57 months for the identity theft count and 29 months for

forgery count, to run concurrently. RP 197. Mr. Norman' s attorney

argued for a sentence below the high end of the range on the ground that

the legislature did not intend the identity theft statute to cover the alleged

conduct. RP 199- 202. Mr. Norman' s attorney also argued for leniency on

the ground that the identity theft statute was overbroad. RP 200- 202. 

The court agreed that Mr. Norman' s conduct was " not the typical

Identity Theft that we think o£" RP 205. The court nonetheless granted

the state' s request and imposed the maximum standard -range sentence: 57

5



months confinement followed by three months' community custody. CP

47- 48; RP 205- 206. Mr. Norman appeals. CP 60. 

II. WHEN MR. NORMAN TRIED TO DISCHARGE HIS ATTORNEY, THE

COURT INFORMED HIM HE COULD NOT PROCEED PRO SE UNLESS

HE UNDERSTOOD THE LAW AND THE RULES OF EVIDENCE. 

A. Mr. Norman asked to fire his attorney. 

Before swearing in the first witness, the court asked if the parties

were ready for the jury. RP 41. Mr. Norman' s attorney replied that they

were ready, without telling the court that Mr. Norman wished to end the

representation. RP 41. 

Mr. Norman immediately spoke up, however, and addressed the

court directly, stating, " Your Honor, I would like to fire my attorney." RP

41. Mr. Norman informed the court that he felt his attorney did not have

his best interest at heart, asserting that the lawyer had pressured him to

accept a plea deal even though he maintained his innocence and wanted

to go to trial. RP 41. 

Mr. Norman further asserted that his attorney had previously

refused to inform the court that Mr. Norman wanted to fire him. RP 41. 

Mr. Norman stated that, when he asked his attorney to bring the conflict to

1 See RP 204 ( BN repeats his trial defense at allocution). 
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the court' s attention, the attorney replied, "[ t]hat' s not my job to do that." 

RP 41. Defense counsel did not deny these allegations. RP 41- 43. 

B. The court informed Mr. Norman that his only viable option was to
represent himself, but that he could not proceed pro se unless he

demonstrated that he understood the law and the rules of evidence. 

The court responded to Mr. Norman' s request by telling him that, 

unless he had a private attorney ready to go that day, his only choice was

to proceed pro se. RP 42. The court knew, however, that Mr. Norman was

indigent and could not afford a private attorney.
2

CP 3. 

Mr. Norman then expressed interest in representing himself, asking

if he could have a continuance in order to prepare. RP 42. The court

refused to grant a continuance. RP 42. 

The court then told Mr. Norman that it would not allow him to

represent himself "unless [ he] demonstrate[ d] that [ he] underst[ ood] the

law and the Rules of Evidence." RP 42. After hearing this, Mr. Norman

decided to proceed with his previously appointed attorney. RP 43- 44. 

The court conducted no further colloquy regarding Mr. Norman' s desire to

represent himself. 

2 The court file reflects a Notice of Appearance filed by an attorney from the Pierce County
Department of Assigned Counsel. 
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ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT VIOLATED MR. NORMAN' S RIGHT TO SELF - 

REPRESENTATION, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, HIS RIGHT TO

COUNSEL, BY FORCING HIM TO ACCEPT REPRESENTATION FROM A

STATE -APPOINTED LAWYER AGAINST HIS WILL. 

A. Standard of review and governing law. 

Both the federal and Washington constitutions guarantee criminal

defendants the right to self -representation. State v. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d

496, 503, 229 P. 3d 714 ( 2010) ( citing Faretta v. California, 422 U. S. 806, 

819, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 ( 1975). This right is " so fundamental

that it is afforded despite its potentially detrimental impact on both the

defendant and the administration of justice." Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at 503. 

The relevant constitutional provisions make clear that the assistance of

counsel " shall be an aid to a willing defendant— not an organ of the State

interposed between an unwilling defendant and his right to defend himself

personally." Faretta, 422 U.S. at 820; see also Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at

5 03 . 

Because a defendant who exercises the right to self -representation

necessarily waives the right to counsel, appellate courts review a trial

court' s denial of a request to proceed pro se for abuse of discretion. 

Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at 504. A court abuses its discretion if it bases its

decision on an incorrect legal standard. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at 504. 

1. 



The presumption against waiver of the right to counsel does not

give a court carte blanche to deny" a defendant' s request to proceed pro

se. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at 504. Instead, a court may deny such a request

only for certain specific reasons. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at 504- 05. 

These reasons do not include a defendant' s lack of technical

knowledge of the law or expertise in courtroom procedures. Madsen, 168

Wn.2d at 504- 05. Thus, a court may not deny an otherwise proper request

on the grounds that the defendant does not understand the law or the rules

of evidence.
3

Faretta, 422 U. S. at 836; State v. Vermillion, 112 Wn. App. 

844, 857- 58, 51 P. 3d 188 ( 2002). 

When a defendant asks to proceed pro se, furthermore, the court

has a duty to conduct a proper colloquy to determine if the request is

knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at 506. In

considering such a request, the " court cannot stack the deck against a

defendant" by failing to conduct " a proper colloquy to determine whether

the requirements for waiver are sufficiently met." Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at

506. This means that if a trial court does not conduct an adequate

colloquy, the reviewing court presumes that the request was voluntary, 

3 When a defendant seeks to represent himself, the court may ask about his knowledge to
determine whether he understands the risks involved, but "[ n] o showing of technical
knowledge is required" for a defendant to proceed pro se_ Vermillion, 112 Wn. App. at 857. 
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knowing, and intelligent unless the record affirmatively shows otherwise. 

Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at 506. 

A trial court' s refusal to appoint new counsel is also reviewed for

abuse of discretion. State v. Cross, 156 Wn.2d 580, 607, 132 P. 3d 80

2006). A court " necessarily abuses its discretion" by violating a criminal

defendant' s constitutional rights. State v. Iniguez, 167 Wn.2d 273, 280, 

217 P. 3d 768 ( 2009). A trial court also abuses its discretion by failing to

make an adequate inquiry into the conflict between attorney and client. 

United States v. Lott, 310 F.3d 1231, 1248- 50 ( 10th Cir. 2002); see also

State v. Lopez, 79 Wn. App. 755, 767, 904 P.2d 1179 ( 1995), overruled on

other grounds by State v. Adel, 136 Wn.2d 629, 965 P.2d 1072 ( 1998). 

Where the relationship between lawyer and client completely

collapses, a refusal to appoint new counsel violates the defendant' s Sixth

Amendment right, even in the absence of prejudice. Cross, 156 Wn.2d at

607. To compel an accused to " ` undergo a trial with the assistance of an

attorney with whom he has become embroiled in irreconcilable conflict is

to deprive him of the effective assistance of any counsel whatsoever.' " 

United States v. Williams, 594 F.2d 1258, 1260 ( 9th Cir. 1979). 

When a defendant requests the appointment of new counsel, the

trial court must inquire into the reason for the request. Cross, 156 Wn.2d

at 607- 610; Benitez v. United States, 521 F.3d 625, 632 ( 6th Cir. 2008). 

10



An adequate inquiry must include a full airing of concerns and a

meaningful evaluation of the conflict by the trial court. Cross, 156 Wn.2d

at 610. 

The court " must conduct ` such necessary inquiry as might ease the

defendant' s dissatisfaction, distrust, and concern.' ... The inquiry must

also provide a ` sufficient basis for reaching an informed decision." United

States v. Adelzo- Gonzalez, 268 F. 3d 772 ( 9th Cir. 2001). Furthermore, " in

most circumstances a court can only ascertain the extent of a breakdown in

communication by asking specific and targeted questions." Adelzo- 

Gonzalez, 268 F. 3d at 776- 77. The focus should be on the nature and

extent of the conflict, not on whether counsel is minimally competent. 

Adelzo- Gonzalez, 268 F.3d at 776- 77. 

B. When Mr. Norman tried to fire his attorney, the court effectively
told him he had no choice but to accept the representation. 

As discussed, when Mr. Norman tried to fire his attorney, the court

informed him that he could only do so if he had a private attorney ready

for trial immediately or if he proceeded pro se. RP 42. The court knew, 

however, that Mr. Norman could not afford a private attorney. CP 3. The

court thus knew Mr. Norman had only one real alternative to his state - 

appointed attorney: self -representation. 

11



When Mr. Norman expressed the desire to represent himself, 

however, the court told him it would not allow him to do so unless he

demonstrated that he knew the law and the rules of evidence. RP 42. The

court' s statement directly contradicts the rule expressed in Faretta, 422

U. S. at 836. The court also knew that Mr. Norman did not understand

such matters. See RP 41- 43. 

Thus, the court " stack[ ed] the deck against" him, effectively telling

Mr. Norman that he had no real option but to accept the state -appointed

lawyer' s representation anyway. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at 506. The court

did so based on an erroneous legal standard. 

The court did not develop an adequate basis for an informed

decision on Mr. Norman' s request to fire his attorney by conducting a

specific and targeted inquiry into the conflict. See Cross, 156 Wn.2d at

610; Adelzo- Gonzalez, 268 F.3d at 776- 79. The court compounded this

error by also failing to conduct a proper colloquy regarding Mr. Norman' s

desire to represent himself. This court must therefore presume that Mr. 

Norman' s request was proper.
4

Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at 506. 

4 Mr. Noonan unambiguously stated that he did not want the public defender to represent
hon, and clearly expressed a desire to represent himself. RP 41- 42. The court did not find
that this request was untimely or ambiguous. RP 41- 42. See Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at 504- 05
enumerating the grounds on which a trial court may properly deny a request for sclf- 

representation). Although a court may properly deny such a request on the ground that it is
untimely, here the delay in informing the court of Mr. Norman' s desire to fire his lawyer
until after j ury selection resulted from the attorney' s improper conduct. That is, the court did
not learn of the defendant' s request sooner only because his attorney refused to communicate

12



The court violated Mr. Norman' s right to self representation, or in

the alternative, his right to counsel. The remedy is to reverse and remand, 

without inquiry into prejudice. Vermillion, 112 Wn. App. at 851; 

Williams, 594 F.2d at 1260- 61. 

II. THE COURT VIOLATED THE PROHIBITION AGAINST DOUBLE

JEOPARDY BY ENTERING CONVICTIONS FOR BOTH SECOND- 

DEGREE IDENTITY THEFT AND FORGERY BASED ON MR. 

NORMAN' S PRESENTATION OF A SINGLE CHECK. 

A. Standard of review and governing law. 

The double jeopardy clauses of both the federal and Washington

constitutions " prohibit multiple prosecutions or punishments for the same

offense." State v. Baldwin, 150 Wn.2d 448, 454, 78 P. 3d 1005 ( 2003). 

Where the same conduct violates two criminal statutes, entering

convictions under both violates the double jeopardy prohibition unless the

legislature clearly intended to impose multiple punishments for the same

act or transaction. Baldwin, 150 Wn.2d at 454. Unless the legislature

clearly intended multiple punishments, courts reviewing double jeopardy

it to the court. See RP 41- 42. The attorney' s conduct violated RPC 1. 16( a)( 3) and 3. 3( a)( 1), 
which require a lawyer to seek to withdraw from the representation if discharged by the
client and to inform the court of material facts. Therefore, this court should not hold that

delay against Mr. Norman. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d at 508 ( holding that the proper date from
which to evaluate the timeliness of a request to proceed pro se is the date the defendant

initially made it). 

13



claims apply the " same evidence" test, discussed below.
5

State v. 

Freeman, 153 Wn.2d 765, 772, 108 P. 3d 753 ( 2005); Baldwin, 150 Wn.2d

at 454. 

B. The legislature did not expressly authorize punishment for both
second- degree identity theft and forgery based on presentation of a
single check altered to show the defendant as payee. 

The language, context, and legislative history of the identity theft

statute do not make clear that the legislature intended to allow for multiple

punishments under the circumstances presented here. Therefore, this court

should apply the same evidence test. 

The legislature intended the identity theft statute to target novel

frauds and schemes that " may result in significant harm to a person' s

privacy, financial security, and other interests" but did not necessarily fall

within the scope of then -existing criminal statutes. See RCW 9. 35. 001

legislative findings and a statement of intent). The legislature based the

statute in part on a finding " that unscrupulous persons find ever more

clever ways ... to improperly obtain, possess, use, and transfer another

person' s means of identification or financial information." RCW

9. 35. 001. This shows that the statute was intended to target novel, 

5 See Blockburgcr v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 304, 52 S. Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 ( 1932). 
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sophisticated criminal schemes, not to multiply punishment for

commonplace petty crimes long covered by other laws. 

The legislative history also shows that the bill' s proponents aimed

chiefly at conduct that would threaten the privacy and credit scores of

individuals and corporations. State v. Evans, 177 Wn.2d 186, 201, 298

P. 3d 724 ( 2013) ( discussing legislative history); House Bill Analysis, HB

1250, 56th leg. ( reg. sess.) 1999 ( summarizing testimony in favor). This

indicates that the legislature did not intend the statute to impose multiple

punishment for conduct that posed no meaningful risk to anyone' s privacy

or credit rating. 

Although the statute contains an anti -merger clause, the mere fact

that a criminal statute includes such a provision does not necessarily

establish that the legislature intended to impose multiple punishments in a

particular context.
6

For example, this court examined anti -merger

language identical to that used here in State v. Timothy K., 107 Wn. App. 

784, 788- 89, 27 P. 3d 1263 ( 2001). The court held that the anti -merger

provision did not necessarily establish that the legislature intended to

authorize multiple punishments for a single course of conduct violating

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