COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

BOBBY ARLEND NORMAN, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Kitty-Ann van Doorninck

No. 14-1-05270-9

Brief of Respondent

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By JAMES SCHACHT Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 17298

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

1. Procedural Facts.

On December 31, 2014, Appellant Bobby Arlend Norman (the "defendant") was charged with two crimes, second degree identity theft and forgery. CP 1-2. The charges stemmed from an incident on November 4, 2014, in which the defendant presented a stolen check for

payment payable to his order in the amount of \$150.00 at a Timberland Bank branch. *Id.* RP 99-104. Exhibit 1.

The case was assigned for trial on May 21, 2015, a Thursday afternoon. RP 4. Before jury selection the trial court held a CrR 3.5 hearing and ruled on a number of routine pre-trial motions. RP 30-36. After jury selection the court recessed the trial until the following Tuesday following a three-day Memorial Day weekend.

When court reconvened on Tuesday morning, in response to the court's inquiry about whether the parties were ready for the jury, the defendant stated, "Your Honor, I would like to fire my attorney." RP 41. The trial court's response was, "Okay. Tell me about that." *Id*. Thereafter in a seven page colloquy the trial court responded to several other inquiries from the defendant, including (1) whether he could have a new attorney [RP41-42], (2) whether he could have a continuance if he were to represent himself [RP 42], (3) whether his prior criminal convictions were admissible [RP 42-43], and (4) whether he would have to take the stand [RP 44].

The trial court's response to each inquiry was provided patiently and respectfully. At the conclusion of the discussion, the defendant indicated that he was satisfied and ready to proceed. RP 44-45. Just before the jury came into the courtroom the defendant accepted a trial strategy decision made by his defense attorney and agreed to stipulations concerning authenticity of the surveillance video from the bank and chain

of custody for the stolen check. RP 45. Thereafter during the rest of the proceedings the defendant made no further attempt to discharge his attorney.

The trial proceeded with the State calling four witnesses and introducing six exhibits. RP 51-126. After a short recess at the end of the State's case, the defendant took the stand as the only defense witness. RP 127. The jury instructions proposed by the State were adopted by the court without objection. CP 12-36. RP 151-53. The defense did not proposed any instructions. The defendant was found guilty of both crimes. CP 37-38.

2. Substantive Facts.

On November 1, 2014, Timberland Bank customer Linda Loeck wrote a check to Capitol One for her monthly credit card bill. RP 51-52. She put the check in an envelope and left it in her mailbox. RP 53. She retained a carbon copy. *Id.* Her next contact concerning the check was when Timberland Bank teller, Kelly Deforrest, called her to ask whether she had written that check to the defendant. RP 55. She had not and she testified that (1) she did not know the defendant except by sight [RP 55], (2) that she had not written him the check [*Id.*], (3) that she had not given him permission to use her information [*Id.*], and (4) that she did not know who had written his name on her Capitol One check [RP 58].

The teller, Ms. Deforrest, testified about the defendant's presentment of the check for payment. She testified that the defendant

first appeared at the drive-up window but was told that he had to come into the bank because he was not a customer. RP 99. She and the other tellers noticed suspicious behavior. They noticed (1) that the truck that the defendant was in did not park in a parking space, (2) that the defendant was pacing and talking to the driver of the truck before he came in, (3) that the defendant was fidgeting, (4) that he came in once and then left the bank lobby for a brief time, and (5) that he was looking around once he came into the bank. RP 99-100. When the defendant finally came to Ms. Deforrest's teller station, she considered him to have raised red flags concerning the check. *Id*.

The check itself was also suspicious. RP 101. The payee line appeared to have been changed and written over with the defendant's name. *Id.* This prompted Ms. Deforrest to ask questions. She asked if he had written his own name on the check and the defendant denied that he had. RP 101-02. She then told him that she had to call Ms. Loeck and he responded, "Go ahead. Yeah. She's at home." RP 102. He claimed that Ms. Loeck had given him the check. *Id.* When Ms. Deforrest called Ms. Loeck, she discovered that Ms. Loeck did not know the defendant and that the check was stolen and had originally been written to Capitol One. RP 104-05. The defendant became irate after the phone call. RP 105. He wanted his identification back and wanted out of the bank. RP 105-06.

The defendant's actions inside the bank were captured on surveillance video. RP 110-18. Furthermore, in his testimony, the

defendant admitted having gone to the bank with the check and having presented it for payment. RP 130. He claimed that a person named "Drew" gave him the check in exchange for a Blue Ray disc player that he sold on Offer Up, a web site comparable to Craig's List. RP 131-35. He claimed not to have looked at the check and he disputed the teller's account of his statement about Ms. Loeck; he said that he never used Ms. Loeck's name. RP 143. The defendant admitted that he was not due any money from Ms. Loeck and that the check looked suspicious in that, "Yes. My name – on my name, it looks like a little – it looks a little messed up and darker than when I look at it right now." RP 139.

The jury convicted the defendant of both identity theft and forgery. CP 37-38. Having been convicted of both crimes, the defendant appeared for sentencing on June 12, 2015. CP 41-54. He stipulated to his prior criminal convictions and offender score, and was sentenced to the high end of the standard sentencing range. CP47. He filed this timely appeal the same day. CP 60.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>.

1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS
DISCRETION IN ITS RESPONSES TO THE
DEFENDANT'S STATEMENTS AND INQUIRIES
ABOUT A NEW ATTORNEY, A CONTINUANCE OR
SELF REPRESENTATION.

A criminal defendant's request for (1) new counsel, (2) a continuance or (3) self-representation, are matters entrusted to the

discretion of the trial court. State v. Hampton, __ Wn. 2d__, __ P.3d __, (Supreme Court Case No. 90811-7, 2015 WL 7294538, pp.4-5, filed Nov. 19, 2015)("The balancing of a defendant's right to choice of counsel with a trial court's need to efficiently administer justice 'falls squarely within the discretion of the trial court'."), State v. Stenson, 132 Wn. 2d 668, 733-34, 940 P.2d 1239(1997)("Whether an indigent defendant's dissatisfaction with his court-appointed counsel is meritorious and justifies the appointment of new counsel is a matter within the discretion of the trial court."), citing Wheat v. United States, 486 U.S. 153, 164, 108 S. Ct. 1692, 1697, 100 L. Ed. 2d 140 (1988), State v. DeWeese, 117 Wn. 2d 369, 376, 816 P.2d 1 (1991), and State v. Sinclair, 46 Wn. App. 433, 730 P.2d 742 (1986). *State v. Hahn*, 106 Wn. 2d 885, 900-01, 726 P.2d 25 (1986)("This determination [of self-representation] is within the discretion of the trial court."), citing State v. Kolocotronis, 73 Wn. 2d 92, 102, 436 P.2d 774 (1968). This court reviews such decisions for an abuse of discretion. State v. Lawrence, 166 Wn. App. 378, 395-96, 271 P.3d 280 (2012). Abuse of discretion means that the decision was "manifestly unreasonable, relies on unsupported facts, or applies an incorrect legal standard." State v. Coley, 180 Wn. 2d 543, 559, 326 P.3d 702 (2014) (internal quotation marks omitted), quoting, State v. Madsen, 168 Wn. 2d 496, 504, 229 P.3d 714 (2010).

In Washington, once a criminal case is set for trial, "no lawyer shall be allowed to withdraw from said cause, except upon written consent

of the court, for good and sufficient reason shown." CrR 3.1(e). When a motion for new counsel is made at such time that a continuance will be necessary, Washington courts are to beware of "mechanical tests" and "must decide based on 'the circumstances present'." *State v. Hampton*,

__ Wn. 2d___, __ P.3d ___, (Supreme Court Case No. 90811-7, 2015 WL 7294538, filed Nov. 19, 2015) (Slip Opinion, p. 14.), quoting *Ungar v. Sarafite*, 376 U.S. 575, 589, 84 S. Ct. 841, 11 L. Ed. 2d 921 (1964). The trial court is entitled to consider all relevant information, and in particular eleven factors derived from a leading criminal procedure treatise. *Id.*, citing 3 Wayne R. Lafave et al., Criminal Procedure § 11.4(c) at 718–20 (3d ed.2007).

"The general loss of confidence or trust alone is not sufficient to substitute new counsel." *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn. 2d 668, 733-34, 940 P.2d 1239, 1272 (1997), citing *Smith v. Lockhart*, 923 F.2d 1314, 1320 (8th Cir.1991). "A criminal defendant who is dissatisfied with appointed counsel must show good cause to warrant substitution of counsel, such as a conflict of interest, an irreconcilable conflict, or a complete breakdown in communication between the attorney and the defendant." *Id*.

In addition to a qualified right to new counsel, criminal defendants also have both a federal and state constitutional right to self-representation. Sixth Amendment. Article 1, § 22. *In re Rhome*, 172 Wn. 2d, 654, 659-60, 260 P.3d 874 (2011). *Indiana v. Edwards*, 554 U.S. 164, 128 S. Ct. 2379, 171 L. Ed. 2d 345 (2008). *State v. Kolocotronis*, 73

Wn. 2d 92, 436 P.2d 774 (1968). Where a defendant asks to represent himself, the request must be shown to have been unequivocal, knowing, voluntary, intelligent, and timely. *City of Bellevue v. Acrey*, 103 Wn. 2d 203, 208–09, 691 P.2d 957 (1984), *State v. Vermillion*, 112 Wn. App. 844, 851, 51 P.3d 188 (2002), *review denied*, 148 Wn. 2d 1022 (2003). "[A] criminal defendant's request to proceed pro se must be (1) timely made and (2) stated unequivocally." *State v. Woods*, 143 Wn. 2d 561, 586, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001), citing *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn. 2d at 737.

The context in which a self-representation request is made, particularly where it is made in conjunction with a continuance motion, may be properly considered. *State v. Woods*, 143 Wn. 2d at 586, citing *State v. Luvene*, 127 Wn. 2d 690, 698-99, 903 P.2d 960 (1995). The consequences of the decision to proceed *pro se* can be serious; an "accused should not be deemed to have waived the assistance of counsel until the entire process of offering counsel has been completed and a thorough inquiry into the accused's comprehension of the offer and capacity to make the choice intelligently and understandably has been made." *State v. Chavis*, 31 Wn. App. 784, 789, 644 P.2d 1202 (1982).

In this case, the defendant made an oral motion for appointment of new counsel after the jury had been selected and after jeopardy had attached. RP 41. Such motions are not unusual and the experienced and patient trial judge considered the motion and sorted out the defendant's various requests and statements in a hearing before bringing the jury into the courtroom. RP 41-47. It is a testament to the trial court's handling of the issues that after the hearing the defendant did not re-raise any of the issues. The trial was completed and the defendant was sentenced without any further similar requests.

The defendant's first statement in support of his motion was that he wished to fire his appointed attorney and have a new attorney appointed to represent him. RP 41-42. He gave very little reason for this other than he did not like the manner in which his attorney delivered legal advice. RP 42. In response, the trial court pointed out that the defendant's motion was made while the trial was underway, and advised the defendant that (1) the law did not provide that he could get his pick of appointed counsel, (2) that he could bring in counsel of his choice prepared to go forward with the trial "right now", and (3) that the defendant could "represent yourself if you want, if you don't want Mr. Jordan". RP 42. The defendant at no time indicated that he had resources to hire an attorney, nor that such counsel was ready to step in and go forward with the already begun trial. Also no motion for a mistrial was made.

During further colloquy, the trial court addressed the defendant's other questions and concerns one by one. These included continuance and self-representation. The defendant asked, "If I go pro se, can I have a continuance." RP 42. The trial judge advised him that, "If you want to represent yourself, then we need to have a discussion about that, what you understand about the law. I can't allow you to do that unless you

demonstrate that you understand the law and the Rules of Evidence. Is there a specific thing you want to tell me about?" RP 42. The discussion then turned to what was actually on the defendant's mind, namely whether his prior criminal convictions would be admitted into evidence. RP 42-43. The defendant was confused about the applicability of various evidence rules but seemed to accept his attorney's and the court's explanation of ER 609. RP 43. After the trial court gave its explanation of its ruling, the defendant said he was ready to proceed. RP 44.

The record does not support the defendant's claim that the trial court abused its discretion. The trial court responded to the defendant's concerns in a serious but compassionate manner. This is what one would hope of an experienced trial judge. The defendant's concerns were not discounted, quashed or ignored. After the continuance and self-representation questions, during the same hearing, the court also dealt with admitting evidence by stipulation and with the defendant's right to not take the stand. RP 44-45. Those issues too were resolved to his satisfaction.

The trial court addressed the defendant's issues one by one respectfully and openly, and by the end of the hearing, had no reason to think the defendant was dissatisfied with how he was being represented. RP 45-47. Under these circumstances, there is no basis for the claim that the trial court abused its discretion.

2. SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION OF IDENTITY THEFT WHERE THE CRIME IS NOT AN ALTERNATIVE MEANS CRIME, AND WHERE, IN ANY CASE, THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE FOR EACH ACT BY WHICH THE CRIME COULD BE COMMITTED.

Where a single crime can be committed in more ways than one, there must be juror unanimity as to guilt for the crime charged, but the jurors need not be unanimous as to the means by which the crime was committed so long as substantial evidence supports each alternative means presented. *State v. Kitchen*, 110 Wn. 2d 403, 410-11, 756 P.2d 105 (1988) ("In reviewing an alternative means case, the court must determine whether a rational trier of fact could have found each means of committing the crime proved beyond a reasonable doubt."). "[T]here simply is no bright-line rule by which the courts can determine whether the legislature intended to provide alternate means of committing a particular crime.

Instead, each case must be evaluated on its own merits." *State v. Peterson*, 168 Wn. 2d 763, 769, 230 P.3d 588 (2010), quoting *State v. Klimes*, 117 Wn. App. 758, 769, 73 P.3d 416 (2003).

A definition of a crime that provides several methods of committing a crime in the disjunctive does not necessarily create alternative means crime. *State v. Laico*, 97 Wn. App. 759, 762, 987 P.2d 638 (1999). Where the word "knowingly" clearly relates to a series of verbs, its placement would suggest that only one means is intended. *State v. Lindsey*, 177 Wn. App. 233, 241, 311 P.3d 61 (2013).

The definition of identity theft includes just such a placement of the word knowingly. RCW 9.35.020(1) states that no one "may knowingly obtain, possess, use, or transfer a means of identification or financial information of another person." The placement of the knowingly element in identity theft may be compared to the same placement in the stolen property trafficking statute. *State v. Owens*, 180 Wn. 2d 90, 97-98, 323 P.3d 1030 (2014). The stolen property trafficking statute provides that a person who "knowingly initiates, organizes, plans, finances, directs, manages, or supervises the theft of property for sale to others, or who knowingly traffics in stolen property, is guilty of trafficking in stolen property in the first degree." RCW 9A.82.050(1). In *Owens*, the defendant argued, much as the defendant in this case has argued, that the disjunctive statutory verbs supported eight alternative means for committing first degree trafficking in stolen property.

The Supreme Court rejected that view. Because the word "knowingly" appeared in two different positions in the list of verbs, the *Owens* court concluded that the statute articulated only two alternative means, not eight. The court also pointed out that the first seven verbs were so closely related they did not really address distinct acts. *Id.* at 99, citing *State v. Peterson*, 168 Wn. 2d 763, 230 P.3d 588 (2010), and *State v. Lindsey*, 177 Wn. App. 233, 311 P.3d 61 (2013). Because substantial evidence supported each of the two alternative means, the court affirmed the conviction.

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